GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC

Form 10-Q January 11, 2016 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended November 30, 2015

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-16111 GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in charter)

Georgia 58-2567903 (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

10 Glenlake Parkway, North Tower, Atlanta, Georgia 30328 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (770) 829-8000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ý No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ý No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer x Accelerated filer "

Non-accelerated filer " (Do not check if a smaller reporting Smaller reporting company "

company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes "No x

The number of shares of the issuer's common stock, no par value, outstanding as of January 7, 2016 was 129,348,466.

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC.

FORM 10-Q

For the quarterly period ended November 30, 2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I - FIN	JANCIAL INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	<u>Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months ended</u>	<u>3</u>
HENH I.	November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014	<u>3</u>
	<u>Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income for the six months ended</u>	<u>4</u>
	November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014	
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the	<u>5</u>
	three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014	_
	Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the six months	5 5
	ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014	<u>J</u>
	Consolidated Balance Sheets at November 30, 2015 (unaudited) and May 31,	<u>6</u>
	<u>2015</u>	<u>U</u>
	<u>Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended</u>	7
	November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014	<u> </u>
	<u>Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the six months</u>	8
	ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014	<u>o</u>
	Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>10</u>
ITEM 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	<u> 26</u>
1112111 2.	<u>Operations</u>	
ITEM 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>36</u>
ITEM 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>36</u>
PART II - OT	THER INFORMATION	
ITEM 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>36</u>
ITEM 1A.	Risk Factors	<u>37</u>
ITEM 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	<u>38</u>
ITEM 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>39</u>
	<u>Signatures</u>	<u>40</u>

Table of Contents

PART 1 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC.

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share data)

	Three Months Ended		
	November 30, November		
	2015	2014	
Revenues	\$722,350	\$697,291	
Operating expenses:	+	+	
Cost of service	270,565	257,796	
Selling, general and administrative	328,620	315,511	
	599,185	573,307	
Operating income	123,165	123,984	
Interest and other income	1,292	1,282	
Interest and other expense	(14,126) (10,350)	
	(12,834) (9,068	
Income before income taxes	110,331	114,916	
Provision for income taxes	(27,253) (29,660)	
Net income	83,078	85,256	
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of income tax	(4,307) (10,475)	
Net income attributable to Global Payments	\$78,771	\$74,781	
Earnings per share attributable to Global Payments:			
Basic earnings per share	\$0.61	\$0.55	
Diluted earnings per share	\$0.60	\$0.55	
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.			

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (in thousands, except per share data)

	Six Months Ended		
	November 30,	November 30,	
	2015	2014	
Revenues	\$1,471,146	\$1,402,186	
Operating expenses:			
Cost of service	543,231	517,635	
Selling, general and administrative	666,978	636,169	
	1,210,209	1,153,804	
Operating income	260,937	248,382	
Interest and other income	2,434	2,474	
Interest and other expense	·	(21,360)	
	(24,935)		
Income before income taxes	236,002	229,496	
Provision for income taxes	(59,876)	(59,806)	
Net income	176,126	169,690	
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, net of income tax	(10,708)	(19,543)	
Net income attributable to Global Payments	\$165,418	\$150,147	
Earnings per share attributable to Global Payments:			
Basic earnings per share	\$1.27	\$1.11	
Diluted earnings per share	\$1.27	\$1.10	
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.	•	•	

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (in thousands)

	Three Mont November 3 2015			30,
Net income	\$83,078		\$85,256	
Other comprehensive income (loss):	(25.592	,	(00.604	`
Foreign currency translation adjustments	(35,582		(92,634)
Income tax (provision) benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments	(2,256		4,774	,
Unrealized losses on hedging activities	(3,968)	(4,419)
Reclassification of losses on hedging activities to interest expense	2,467		531	
Income tax benefit related to hedging activities	562		1,443	
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	(38,777)	(90,305)
Comprehensive income (loss)	44,301		(5,049)
Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests	1,965		(3,546)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Global Payments	\$46,266		\$(8,595)
	Six Months	Enc	led	
	Six Months			30
	Six Months November 3 2015			30,
Not income	November 3 2015		November 2014	30,
Net income Other comprehensive income (loss):	November 3		November	30,
Other comprehensive income (loss):	November 3 2015 \$176,126	0,	November 2014 \$169,690	
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855	30,
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855	
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of losses on hedging activities to interest expense	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000 4,201)	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291 (4,419 531)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291 (4,419)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of losses on hedging activities to interest expense Income tax (provision) benefit related to hedging activities Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000 4,201 (60 (63,614	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291 (4,419 531 1,443 (113,009)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of losses on hedging activities to interest expense Income tax (provision) benefit related to hedging activities Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Comprehensive income	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000 4,201 (60 (63,614 112,512	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291 (4,419 531 1,443 (113,009 56,681)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of losses on hedging activities to interest expense Income tax (provision) benefit related to hedging activities Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Comprehensive income Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000 4,201 (60 (63,614 112,512 (6,336	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291 (4,419 531 1,443 (113,009 56,681 (7,484)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Foreign currency translation adjustments Income tax benefit related to foreign currency translation adjustments Unrealized losses on hedging activities Reclassification of losses on hedging activities to interest expense Income tax (provision) benefit related to hedging activities Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Comprehensive income	November 3 2015 \$176,126 (72,599 8,844 (4,000 4,201 (60 (63,614 112,512	0,	November 2014 \$169,690 (117,855 7,291 (4,419 531 1,443 (113,009 56,681)

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)

	November 30, 2015 (Unaudited)	May 31, 2015
ASSETS	,	
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$988,457	\$650,739
Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of \$437 and \$468,	202,931	202 200
respectively	202,931	202,390
Claims receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of \$9,091 and \$2,684,	7,812	548
respectively	7,012	340
Settlement processing assets	1,403,914	2,394,822
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	52,707	41,416
Total current assets	2,655,821	3,289,915
Goodwill	1,577,455	1,491,833
Other intangible assets, net	665,667	560,136
Property and equipment, net	367,541	374,143
Deferred income taxes	26,252	30,428
Other	35,365	32,846
Total assets	\$5,328,101	\$5,779,301
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Lines of credit	\$685,178	\$592,629
Current portion of long-term debt	_	61,784
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	309,117	312,647
Settlement processing obligations	1,256,458	2,033,900
Income taxes payable	16,892	14,228
Total current liabilities	2,267,645	3,015,188
Long-term debt	1,915,803	1,678,283
Deferred income taxes	202,630	202,855
Other noncurrent liabilities	15,924	19,422
Total liabilities	4,402,002	4,915,748
Commitments and contingencies		
Equity:		
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and none issued	_	_
Common stock, no par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 129,362,187 issued and		
outstanding at November 30, 2015 and 130,557,676 issued and outstanding at May 31,		_
2015		
Paid-in capital	132,401	148,742
Retained earnings	917,989	795,226
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(245,234)	(185,992)
Total Global Payments shareholders' equity	805,156	757,976
Noncontrolling interests	120,943	105,577
Total equity	926,099	863,553
Total liabilities and equity	\$5,328,101	\$5,779,301
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.		

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

(III tilousalius)	Six Months I	Ended), November 30	Λ
	2015	2014	υ,
Cosh flows from operating activities:	2013	2014	
Cash flows from operating activities: Net income	\$176,126	\$169,690	
	\$170,120	\$ 109,090	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	35,697	22.055	
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment	•	33,055	
Amortization of acquired intangibles	41,809	36,117	
Share-based compensation expense	13,472	9,145	
Provision for operating losses and bad debts Deferred income taxes	11,257	7,432	`
	2,900	(982)
Other, net	2,198	(387)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions:	(4.071	17.501	
Accounts receivable) 17,521	`
Claims receivable) (4,881)
Settlement processing assets and obligations, net	208,446	(13,778)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(14,097) 3,903	`
Accounts payable and other liabilities	(3,329) (31,503)
Income taxes payable	2,585	1,604	
Net cash provided by operating activities	454,070	226,936	
Cash flows from investing activities:	(2.11.02.1		
Business, intangible and other asset acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(241,934) (223,651)
Capital expenditures	(36,246) (33,290)
Principal collections on financing receivables	_	219	
Net proceeds from sales of investments and business		10,528	
Net cash used in investing activities	(278,180) (246,194)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Net borrowings on lines of credit	101,464	90,593	
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	3,030,175	1,080,000	
Principal payments of long-term debt) (872,679)
Payment of debt issuance costs	(4,934) —	
Repurchase of common stock	(71,748)
Proceeds from stock issued under share-based compensation plans	6,317	17,099	
Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans	(11,579) (15,705)
Tax benefit from share-based compensation plans	6,521	3,599	
Purchase of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling interest	(7,550) —	
Distributions to noncontrolling interests	(8,158) (15,485)
Dividends paid	(2,602) (2,693)
Net cash provided by financing activities	185,731	105,005	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(23,903) (23,150)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents	337,718	62,597	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period	650,739	581,872	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period	\$988,457	\$644,469	
See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.			

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (in thousands)

	Number of Shares	Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other Comprehensi Loss	Global	Noncontrolli ,Interests	ngTotal Equity
Balance at May 31, 2015 Net income	130,558	\$148,742	\$795,226 165,418	\$ (185,992)	\$ 757,976 165,418	\$ 105,577 10,708	\$863,553 176,126
Other comprehensive loss, no of tax	et			(59,242)	(59,242)	(4,372)	(63,614)
Stock issued under							
share-based compensation	1,079	6,317			6,317		6,317
plans Common stock repurchased -							
share-based compensation		(11,997)			(11,997)		(11,997)
plans							
Tax benefit from share-based	l	6,521			6,521		6,521
compensation, net Share-based compensation		10.450			10.150		10.450
expense		13,472			13,472		13,472
Purchase of subsidiary shares	S	(11)			(11)	(7,539)	(7,550)
from noncontrolling interest Distributions to							
noncontrolling interests					_	(8,158)	(8,158)
Contribution of subsidiary							
shares to noncontrolling		4,673			4,673	24,727	29,400
interest as consideration in business combination							
Repurchase of common stock	(1,645)	(35,316)	(40,053)		(75,369)		(75,369)
Dividends paid (\$0.02 per			(2,602)	•	(2,602)		(2,602)
share)			(2,002	,	(2,002)		(2,002)
Balance at November 30, 2015	129,362	\$132,401	\$917,989	\$ (245,234)	\$ 805,156	\$ 120,943	\$926,099
See Notes to Unaudited Cons	solidated F	inancial Star	tements.				

See Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents

GLOBAL PAYMENTS INC. UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (in thousands)

	Number of Shares	Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings	Accumulated Other Comprehensi Loss	Total Global Payments Ve Shareholder Equity	Noncontrolli Interests	ng Total Equity
Balance at May 31, 2014 Net income	137,692	\$183,023	\$815,980 150,147	\$ (1,776)	\$ 997,227 150,147	\$ 135,572 19,543	\$1,132,799 169,690
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Stock issued under				(100,950)	(100,950)	(12,059)	(113,009)
share-based compensation plans	1,882	17,099			17,099		17,099
Common stock repurchased - share-based compensation plans		(6,976)			(6,976)		(6,976)
Tax benefit from employee share-based compensation, net		3,599			3,599		3,599
Share-based compensation expense		9,145			9,145		9,145
Distributions to noncontrolling interests					_	(15,485)	(15,485)
Repurchase of common stock	(4,880)	(61,471)	(110,462)		(171,933)		(171,933)
Dividends paid (\$0.02 per share)			(2,693)		(2,693)		(2,693)
Balance at November 30, 2014	134,062	\$144,419	\$852,972	\$ (102,726)	\$ 894,665	\$ 127,571	\$1,022,236
See Notes to Unaudited Cor	nsolidated l	Financial St	atements.				

a

Table of Contents

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1—BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business, consolidation and presentation— We are a leading worldwide provider of payment technology services delivering innovative solutions to our customers. Our technologies, partnerships and employee expertise enable us to provide a broad range of services that allow our customers to accept various payment types. We distribute our payment services and digital commerce services across a variety of channels to merchants and partners in 29 countries throughout North America, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and Brazil. We operate in three reportable segments: North America, Europe and Asia-Pacific.

We were incorporated in Georgia as Global Payments Inc. in 2000 and spun-off from our former parent company in 2001. Including our time as part of our former parent company, we have been in the payments business since 1967. Global Payments Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are referred to collectively as "Global Payments," the "Company," "we," "our" or "us," unless the context requires otherwise.

These unaudited consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our majority-owned subsidiaries, and all intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. These unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP") for interim financial information pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The consolidated balance sheet as of May 31, 2015 was derived from the audited financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015 but does not include all disclosures required by GAAP.

In the opinion of our management, all known adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of the interim periods have been made. These adjustments consist of normal recurring accruals and estimates that affect the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015.

Use of estimates— The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Stock split—Our board of directors declared a two-for-one stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend of one additional share of common stock for each outstanding share of common stock (the "Stock Split"). The stock dividend was paid on November 2, 2015 to all shareholders of record as of October 21, 2015. Common share and per share data in the consolidated financial statements and in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for prior periods have been adjusted to reflect the Stock Split, except for authorized common shares which were not affected.

New accounting pronouncements— From time-to-time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") or other standards setting bodies that may affect our current and/or future financial statements when adopted.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2015-17, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes." To simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes, the amendments in this update require that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified

balance sheet. We adopted this ASU during the three months ended November 30, 2015 and, as a result, have presented prior-period amounts for deferred income taxes in a manner that conforms to the current-period presentation.

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, "Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments." The update requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined, including the cumulative effect of the change in provisional amount as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. The adjustments

Table of Contents

related to prior reporting periods since the acquisition date must be disclosed by income statement line item either on the face of the income statement or in the notes to the financial statements. We adopted this ASU during the three months ended August 31, 2015. Accordingly, we applied the amendments in this update to the measurement period adjustments made during the six months ended November 30, 2015 with no material effect on prior-period or current-period earnings. See "Note 3—Business Intangible Asset Acquisition and Joint Ventures" for more information regarding adjustments to provisional amounts that occurred during the six months ended November 30, 2015.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, "Interest-Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs." The update requires debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability instead of being presented as an asset. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15, "Interest-Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements-Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to Staff Announcement at June 18, 2015 EITF Meeting," to clarify that an entity may elect to present debt issuance costs related to a line-of-credit arrangement as an asset, regardless of whether there are any outstanding borrowings on the line-of-credit arrangement.

We adopted both ASUs as of June 1, 2015, electing to continue to present debt issuance costs related to our revolving credit facilities as an asset, and as a result, have presented prior-period amounts for debt issuance costs related to our term loans in a manner that conforms to the current-period presentation. The adoption of this standard did not affect our results of operations or cash flows in either the current or prior interim or annual periods. See "Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Credit Facilities" for more information about the presentation of debt issuance costs.

Recently Issued Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, "Intangibles—Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement." The amendments in this update provide guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, then the customer should account for the software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for the arrangement as a service contract. The guidance will not change GAAP for a customer's accounting for service contracts. The amendments will be effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. We are evaluating the effect of ASU 2015-05 on our consolidated financial statements and internal controls over financial reporting and have not yet adopted the new standard.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in GAAP and permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. The standard requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period, with early adoption permitted for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. We are evaluating the impact of ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financial statements and internal controls over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

NOTE 2—SETTLEMENT PROCESSING ASSETS AND OBLIGATIONS

As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, settlement processing assets and obligations consisted of the following (in thousands):

	November 30, 2015	May 31, 2015	
Settlement processing assets:			
Interchange reimbursement	\$148	\$186,660	
Receivable from member sponsors	254,635	294,837	
Receivable from networks	1,147,397	1,919,148	
Exception items	2,019	4,920	
Merchant reserves	(285) (10,743)
	\$1,403,914	\$2,394,822	
Settlement processing obligations:			
Interchange reimbursement	\$238,314	\$68,444	
Liability to member sponsors	(209,034) (628)
Liability to merchants	(1,135,070) (1,931,390)
Exception items	10,334	5,331	
Merchant reserves	(159,370) (169,442)
Reserve for operating losses	(1,316) (1,286)
Reserve for sales allowances	(316) (4,929)
	\$(1,256,458) \$(2,033,900)

NOTE 3—BUSINESS AND INTANGIBLE ASSET ACQUISITIONS AND JOINT VENTURES

Fiscal 2016

FIS Gaming Business

On September 30, 2014, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Certegy Check Services, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. ("FIS"), to acquire substantially all of the assets of its gaming business related to licensed gaming operators (the "FIS Gaming Business"), which consisted primarily of customer contracts. On June 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition, which included approximately 260 gaming client locations, for \$237.5 million funded from borrowings on our revolving credit facility and cash on hand. We acquired the FIS Gaming Business to expand our direct distribution and service offerings in the gaming industry. This transaction was accounted for as a business combination. We recorded the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. Due to the timing of this transaction, we have not finalized the valuation of the intangible assets acquired; however, certain adjustments to estimated fair value were recorded during the three months ended November 30, 2015 based on new information obtained that existed as of the acquisition date. The adjustments associated with the revised valuation are detailed in the table below. FASB Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805, "Business Combinations," as amended by ASU 2015-16, requires than an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. Measurement-period adjustments, which are reflected in the table below, had no material effect on earnings or other comprehensive income for the current or prior periods.

Acquisition costs associated with this business combination were not material. The revenue and earnings associated with the acquired business for the year ending May 31, 2016 are not expected to be material nor were the historical revenue and earnings of the acquired business material for the purpose of presenting pro forma information for the

current or prior-year periods.

Table of Contents

The provisional estimated acquisition-date fair values of major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as originally determined and as revised for measurement period adjustments, including a reconciliation to the total purchase consideration, are as follows (in thousands):

	As Previously Determined	Measurement Period Adjustments	Revised
Customer-related intangible assets	\$135,200	\$8,200	\$143,400
Liabilities	(150)		(150)
Total identifiable net assets	135,050	8,200	143,250
Goodwill	102,450	(8,200)	94,250
Total purchase consideration	\$237,500	\$ —	\$237,500

Goodwill arising from the acquisition was included in the North America segment and was attributable to expected growth opportunities, including cross-selling opportunities at existing and acquired gaming client locations, operating synergies in the gaming business and assembled workforce. Goodwill associated with this acquisition is deductible for income tax purposes. The customer-related intangible assets have an estimated amortization period of 15 years.

We also entered into a gaming bureau license agreement and an outsourcing agreement with FIS on September 30, 2014. Under the license agreement, we acquired a perpetual software license for a gaming bureau application that we believe enhances our casino clients' credit decision process. The software license was recorded in property and equipment in our consolidated balance sheet when acquired. Under the outsourcing agreement, which has a term of 10 years, we engaged FIS to provide a variety of services for our gaming clients, including: check and ACH verification services, collection services, claims management services, billing services and other gaming bureau services. The outsourcing agreement became effective on June 1, 2015.

Venture with Bank of the Philippine Islands

We provide merchant acquiring services in the Philippines through our subsidiary, Global Payments Asia-Pacific Philippines Incorporated ("GP Philippines"). On August 3, 2015, we made a cash payment of \$3.6 million and contributed a 49% ownership interest in GP Philippines to Bank of the Philippines ("BPI") in return for BPI's contribution of its merchant acquiring business to GP Philippines, in which we have retained a controlling 51% interest.

The acquisition of BPI's merchant acquiring business was accounted for as a business combination. We recorded the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The estimated total purchase consideration paid for BPI's merchant acquiring business was \$33.0 million, consisting of \$3.6 million in cash and an estimated acquisition-date fair value of \$29.4 million in shares of GP Philippines. Due to the timing of this transaction, we have not finalized the valuation of shares issued to BPI for the noncontrolling interest or the intangible assets acquired and, therefore, we have recorded provisional estimated amounts.

Central and Eastern European Venture

On July 27, 2015, we announced an agreement with CaixaBank, S.A. ("CaixaBank") and Erste Group Bank AG ("Erste Group") to form a venture to provide merchant acquiring and payment services in three Central and Eastern European markets: the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Romania. As part of the agreement, Global Payments and CaixaBank will form an entity, in which we will have a 51% controlling interest. This newly formed entity will pay €30 million (\$32 million equivalent as of November 30, 2015) in cash to acquire a 51% controlling ownership in the venture with Erste Group, which will contribute its existing merchant acquiring businesses in each of the three

countries to the venture and hold a 49% interest. The transaction is expected to close in the second half of fiscal 2016, subject to receipt of regulatory approvals and satisfaction of customary closing conditions.

Fiscal 2015

Realex Payments

On March 25, 2015, we acquired approximately 95% of the outstanding shares of Pay and Shop Limited for €110.2 million in cash (\$118.9 million equivalent as of March 25, 2015) funded from borrowings on our revolving credit facility. Pay and Shop Limited, which does business as Realex Payments ("Realex"), is a leading European online payment gateway technology provider based in Dublin, Ireland. This transaction furthers our strategy to provide omnichannel solutions that combine gateway services, payment service provisioning and merchant acquiring across Europe. This transaction was accounted for as a business combination. We recorded the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interest at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date.

The estimated acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and the noncontrolling interest, including a reconciliation to the total purchase consideration, are as follows (in thousands):

$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}$				
Cash			\$4,082	
Customer-related intangible assets			16,079	
Acquired technology			39,820	
Trade name			3,453	
Other intangible assets			399	
Other assets			6,213	
Liabilities			(3,479)
Deferred income tax liabilities			(7,216)
Total identifiable net assets			59,351	
Goodwill			66,809	
Noncontrolling interest			(7,280)
Total purchase consideration			\$118,880	

Goodwill arising from the acquisition was included in the Europe segment and was attributable to expected growth opportunities in Europe, potential synergies from combining our existing business with gateway services and payment service provisioning in certain markets and an assembled workforce to support the newly acquired technology. Goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for income tax purposes. The customer-related intangible assets have an estimated amortization period of 16 years. The acquired technology has an estimated amortization period of 10 years. The trade name has an estimated amortization period of 7 years.

On October 5, 2015, we paid €6.7 million (\$7.5 million equivalent as of October 5, 2015) to acquire the remaining shares of Realex after which we own 100% of the outstanding shares.

Ezidebit

On October 10, 2014, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding stock of Ezi Holdings Pty Ltd ("Ezidebit") for AUD 302.6 million (\$266.0 million equivalent as of the acquisition date). This acquisition was funded by a combination of cash on hand and borrowings on our revolving credit facility. Ezidebit is a leading integrated payments company focused on recurring payments verticals in Australia and New Zealand. Ezidebit markets its services through a network of integrated software vendors and direct channels to numerous vertical markets. We acquired Ezidebit to establish a direct distribution channel in Australia and New Zealand and to further enhance our existing integrated solutions offerings. This transaction was accounted for as a business combination. We recorded the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. Certain adjustments to estimated fair value were recorded during the six months ended November 30, 2015 based on new information obtained that existed as of the acquisition date. During the measurement period, management determined that deferred income taxes should be reflected for certain nondeductible intangible assets. Measurement-period adjustments, which are reflected in the table below, had no material effect on earnings or other comprehensive income for the current or prior periods.

The estimated acquisition-date fair values of major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as originally determined and as revised for measurement period adjustments, including a reconciliation to the total purchase consideration, are as follows (in thousands):

	As Previously Determined	Measurement Period Adjustments	Revised	
Cash	\$45,826	\$ —	\$45,826	
Customer-related intangible assets	42,721	_	42,721	
Acquired technology	27,954	_	27,954	
Trade name	2,901	_	2,901	
Other assets	2,337	_	2,337	
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities)	1,815	(11,603)	(9,788)
Other liabilities	(49,797)	_	(49,797)
Total identifiable net assets	73,757	(11,603)	62,154	
Goodwill	192,225	11,603	203,828	
Total purchase consideration	\$265,982	\$ —	\$265,982	

Goodwill arising from the acquisition was included in the Asia-Pacific segment and was attributable to expected future growth opportunities in Australia and New Zealand, growth and expansion of integrated payments in the Asia-Pacific region, economies of scale in our existing Asia-Pacific business and an assembled workforce. Neither the goodwill nor the customer-related intangible assets associated with this acquisition are deductible for income tax purposes. The customer-related intangible assets have an estimated amortization period of 15 years. The acquired technology has an estimated amortization period of 15 years. The trade name has an estimated amortization period of 5 years.

NOTE 4—GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, goodwill and other intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

	November 30, 2015	May 31, 2015
Goodwill Other intangible assets:	\$1,577,455	\$1,491,833
Customer-related intangible assets	\$859,745	\$718,011
Contract-based intangible assets	129,399	130,874
Acquired technologies	90,378	93,194
Trademarks and trade names	9,948	10,777
	1,089,470	952,856
Less accumulated amortization:		
Customer-related intangible assets	365,507	342,488
Contract-based intangible assets	40,658	37,286
Acquired technologies	12,716	8,509
Trademarks and trade names	4,922	4,437
	423,803	392,720
	\$665,667	\$560,136

The following table sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six months ended November 30, 2015 (in thousands):

	North America	Europe	Asia-Pacific	Total
Balance at May 31, 2015	\$779,734	\$485,921	\$226,178	\$1,491,833
Goodwill acquired	102,450		16,500	118,950
Effect of foreign currency translation	(5,386	(17,054)	(13,880)	(36,320)
Measurement-period adjustments	(8,200	(411)	11,603	2,992
Balance at November 30, 2015	\$868,598	\$468,456	\$ 240,401	\$1,577,455

There were no accumulated impairment losses as of November 30, 2015 or May 31, 2015.

NOTE 5—OTHER ASSETS

On November 2, 2015, Visa Inc. ("Visa") announced a proposed acquisition of Visa Europe Limited ("VE") that is currently expected to close during our fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. Through certain of our subsidiaries in Europe, we are a member and shareholder of VE. Our member interests in VE are accounted for using the cost method of accounting. The preliminary estimate of the upfront consideration we will receive consists of cash of €30 million (\$31.7 million equivalent at November 30, 2015) and Visa preferred stock which is convertible into Visa common shares with an approximate value of \$21.4 million as of the announcement date. We could also receive contingent earn-out consideration. The amount and composition of the total consideration are not final and could be amended. In addition, approximately €23 million, or \$24.3 million equivalent at November 30, 2015, of the cash consideration could be refundable, and the conversion factor of the preferred shares could be adjusted down based on the outcome of potential litigation in the United Kingdom and elsewhere in Europe such that the number of shares ultimately received could be as low as zero.

2020 and thereafter

Total

NOTE 6—LONG-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITIES

As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

	November 30, 2015	May 31, 2015
Term loan:		
\$1,750,000 face amount (less unamortized debt issuance costs of \$4,697) at		
November 30, 2015 and \$1,234,375 face amount (less unamortized debt issuance	\$1,745,303	\$1,231,942
costs of \$2,433) at May 31, 2015		
Revolving credit facility	170,500	508,125
Total long-term debt	1,915,803	1,740,067
Less current portion of long-term debt (\$62,500 face amount less unamortized debissuance costs of \$716 at May 31, 2015)	t	61,784
Long-term debt, excluding current portion	\$1,915,803	\$1,678,283
Maturity requirements on long-term debt as of November 30, 2015 by fiscal year a 2016 2017 2018 2019	re as follows (in t	housands): \$— 131,250 175,000
2019		175,0

On July 31, 2015, we entered into a second amended and restated term loan agreement (the "Term Loan Agreement") and a second amended and restated credit agreement (the "Revolving Credit Facility Agreement" and, together with the Term Loan Agreement, the "Agreements"), each with a syndicate of financial institutions. The Term Loan Agreement and the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement amended and restated our prior term loan agreement and revolving credit facility agreement, each dated February 28, 2014.

The Term Loan Agreement provides for a five-year senior unsecured \$1.75 billion term loan (the "Term Loan"), and the Revolving Credit Facility Agreement provides for a senior unsecured \$1.25 billion revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). The available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility may be increased, at our option, by up to an additional \$500 million, subject to our receipt of increased or new commitments from lenders and the satisfaction of certain conditions.

Pursuant to the Term Loan Agreement, the Term Loan must be repaid in equal quarterly installments of \$43.8 million commencing in November 2017 and ending in May 2020, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity in July 2020; provided, however, that the Term Loan may be prepaid without penalty. Each of the Agreements provides for an interest rate, at our election, of either London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or a base rate, in each case plus a leverage-based margin. As of November 30, 2015, the interest rate on the Term Loan was 1.73%.

As of November 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility was \$170.5 million, and the interest rate was 1.66%. The Revolving Credit Facility allows us to issue standby letters of credit of up to \$100 million in the aggregate. Outstanding letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility reduce the amount of borrowings available to us. Borrowings available to us under the Revolving Credit Facility are further limited by the covenants described below under "Compliance with Covenants." At November 30, 2015, we had standby letters of credit of \$9.3 million. The total available incremental borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility at November 30, 2015 was \$424.7 million. We are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee on the unused portion of

1,614,250

\$1,920,500

the Revolving Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility Agreement expires in July 2020.

Table of Contents

Upon the closing of the Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility, which occurred on July 31, 2015, we used the proceeds of approximately \$2.0 billion to repay the outstanding balances on our previously existing term loan and revolving credit facility together with accrued interest and fees on each.

We incurred fees and expenses associated with these new arrangements of approximately \$4.9 million. The portion of the debt issuance costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other noncurrent assets in our consolidated balance sheets at November 30, 2015. The portion of the debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan are reported as a reduction to the carrying amount of the debt. Debt issuance costs are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the terms of the Agreements.

The Agreements contain customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, including, among others, financial covenants based on our leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios. See "Compliance with Covenants" below. Each of the Agreements includes customary events of default, the occurrence of which, following any applicable cure period, would permit the lenders to, among other things, declare the principal, accrued interest and other obligations to be immediately due and payable.

Lines of Credit

We have lines of credit with banks in the United States and Canada as well as several countries in Europe and in the Asia-Pacific region where we do business. The lines of credit, which are restricted for use in funding settlement, generally have variable interest rates and are subject to annual review. The credit facilities are generally denominated in local currency but may, in some cases, facilitate borrowings in multiple currencies. For certain of our lines of credit, the line of credit balance is reduced by the amount of cash we have on deposit in specific accounts with the lender when determining the available credit. Accordingly, the amount of the outstanding line of credit may exceed the stated credit limit, while the net position is less than the credit limit. As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, a total of \$115.6 million and \$193.2 million, respectively, of cash on deposit was used to determine the available credit.

As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, respectively, we had \$685.2 million and \$592.6 million outstanding under these lines of credit with additional capacity of \$574.7 million as of November 30, 2015 to fund settlement. The weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings was 1.70% and 1.50% at November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, respectively. We are required to pay commitment fees on unused portions of the lines of credit.

Compliance with Covenants

The Agreements include financial covenants requiring (i) a leverage ratio no greater than 3.50 to 1.00, or up to 3.75 to 1.00 if we were to complete an acquisition, subject to certain conditions, and (ii) a fixed charge coverage ratio no less than 2.50 to 1.00. The Agreements and lines of credit also include various other covenants that are customary in such borrowings. We complied with all applicable covenants as of and for the six months ended November 30, 2015.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

We have interest rate swap agreements with financial institutions to hedge changes in cash flows attributable to interest rate risk on a portion of our variable-rate debt instruments. A \$500 million notional interest rate swap agreement, which became effective on October 31, 2014, effectively converted \$500 million of our variable-rate debt to a fixed rate of 1.52% plus a leverage-based margin and will mature on February 28, 2019. A \$250 million notional interest rate swap, which became effective on August 28, 2015, effectively converted \$250 million of our variable-rate debt to a fixed rate of 1.34% plus a leverage-based margin and will mature on July 31, 2020.

Net amounts to be received or paid under the swap agreements are reflected as adjustments to interest expense. Since we have designated the interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges, unrealized gains or losses resulting from adjusting the swaps to fair value are recorded as components of other comprehensive income, except for any ineffective portion of the change in fair value, which would be immediately recorded in interest expense. During the three and six months ended November 30, 2015, there was no ineffectiveness. The fair values of the interest rate swaps were determined based on the present value of the estimated future net cash flows using implied rates in the applicable yield curve as of the valuation date. These derivative instruments were classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Table of Contents

The table below presents the fair values of our derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges included within the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):

	Consolidated Balance Sheet Location	November 30, 2015	May 31, 2015
Interest rate swap (\$250 million notional)	Other assets	\$196	\$—
Interest rate swap (\$500 million notional)	Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$6,152	\$6,157

The table below presents the effects of our interest rate swaps on the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):

	Three Months	Ended	Six Months En	ded
	November 30, November 30		November 30,	November 30,
	2015	2014	2015	2014
Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:				
Amount of loss recognized in other comprehensive income	\$3,968	\$4,419	\$4,000	\$4,419
Amount of loss recognized in interest expense	\$2,467	\$531	\$4,201	\$531

At November 30, 2015, the amount in accumulated other comprehensive income related to our interest rate swaps that is expected to be reclassified into interest expense during the next 12 months was approximately \$6.8 million.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was \$13.4 million and \$10.4 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Interest expense was \$26.8 million and \$18.9 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Interest expense is comprised primarily of interest on our long-term debt and lines of credit. Interest expense also includes settlements on our interest rate swaps, amortization of deferred debt issuance costs and commitment fees on the unused portions of our Revolving Credit Facility and lines of credit.

NOTE 7—INCOME TAX

Our effective income tax rates were 24.7% and 25.8% for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. Our effective income tax rates were 25.4% and 26.1% for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. Our effective income tax rates differ from the U.S. statutory rate primarily due to income generated in international jurisdictions with lower income tax rates.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by taxing authorities around the world, including, without limitation, the United States, the United Kingdom and Canada. We are no longer subject to state income tax examinations for years ended on or before May 31, 2008 and are no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for fiscal years prior to 2012 and U.K. federal income tax examinations for years ended on or before May 31, 2013, and Canada federal income tax examinations for years ended on or before May 31, 2012.

NOTE 8—SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

On April 10, 2015, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase program (the "ASR") with a financial institution to repurchase an aggregate of \$100 million of our common stock. In exchange for an up-front payment of \$100 million, the financial institution committed to deliver a number of shares during the ASR's purchase period, which ended on

June 16, 2015. On April 14, 2015, 1,630,988 shares were initially delivered to us. At May 31, 2015, we accounted for the variable component of remaining shares to be delivered under the ASR as a forward contract indexed to our common stock which met all of the applicable criteria for equity classification. On June 16, 2015, an additional 324,742 shares were delivered to us. The total number of shares delivered under the ASR was 1,955,730 shares at an average price of \$51.13 per share.

Table of Contents

In addition to the ASR, we repurchased and retired 625,573 and 1,320,563 shares of our common stock at a cost of \$37.5 million and \$75.4 million, or an average cost of \$59.87 and \$57.07 per share, including commissions, during the three and six months ended November 30, 2015, respectively. During the three and six months ended November 30, 2014, we repurchased and retired 1,313,848 and 4,879,012 shares of our common stock at a cost of \$47.4 million and \$171.9 million, or an average cost of \$36.11 and \$35.23 per share, including commissions. As of November 30, 2015, we had a remaining authorized amount of \$327.5 million for share repurchases.

NOTE 9—SHARE-BASED AWARDS AND OPTIONS

The following table summarizes share-based compensation expense and the related income tax benefit recognized for our share-based awards and stock options (in thousands):

	Three Months	Ended	Six Months En	ıded
	November 30,	November 30,	November 30,	November 30,
	2015	2014	2015	2014
Share-based compensation expense	\$7,005	\$5,079	\$13,472	\$9,145
Income tax benefit	\$2,279	\$1,720	\$4,637	\$2,824

Share-Based Awards

The following table summarizes the changes in unvested share-based awards for the six months ended November 30, 2015 (shares in thousands):

	Shares	Weighted-Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Unvested at May 31, 2015	1,848	\$ 29
Granted	450	57
Vested	(620) 27
Forfeited	(37) 32
Unvested at November 30, 2015	1,641	\$ 37

The total fair value of share-based awards vested during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 was \$17.6 million and \$14.6 million, respectively.

For these share-based awards, we recognized compensation expense of \$6.4 million and \$4.7 million during the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. We recognized compensation expense of \$12.6 million and \$8.5 million during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. As of November 30, 2015, there was \$52.0 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested share-based awards that we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.30 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an employee stock purchase plan under which the sale of 4.8 million shares of our common stock has been authorized. Employees may designate up to the lesser of \$25,000 or 20% of their annual compensation for the purchase of our common stock. The price for shares purchased under the plan is 85% of the market value on the last day of each calendar quarter. As of November 30, 2015, 2.3 million shares had been issued under this plan, with 2.5 million shares reserved for future issuance. We recognized compensation expense for the plan of \$0.2 million and \$0.1 million in the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. We recognized compensation expense for the plan of \$0.3 million and \$0.3 million in the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of each designated share purchased under this plan during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 was approximately \$7 and \$4, respectively, which represents the fair value of the 15% discount.

Stock Options

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to 100% of fair market value on the date of grant and have a term of ten years. Stock options granted before fiscal 2015 vest in equal installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date. Stock options granted during fiscal 2015 and thereafter vest in equal installments on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date. During the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, we granted 0.1 million and 0.4 million stock options, respectively. Our stock option plans provide for accelerated vesting under certain conditions.

The following is a summary of our stock option activity as of and for the six months ended November 30, 2015:

	Options		Options Weighted-Aver Exercise Price		Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Term	Aggregate Intrinsic Value	
	(in thousands)				(in years)	(in millions)	
Outstanding at May 31, 2015	894		\$	26	5.2	\$23.9	
Granted	145		56				
Forfeited	(6)	16				
Exercised	(128)	23				
Outstanding at November 30, 2015	905		\$	31	5.7	\$37.3	
Options vested and exercisable at November 30, 2015	586		\$	23	4.0	\$28.6	

We recognized compensation expense for stock options of \$0.4 million and \$0.2 million during the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. We recognized compensation expense for stock options of \$0.6 million and \$0.3 million during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 was \$4.8 million and \$10.4 million, respectively. As of November 30, 2015, we had \$3.3 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options that we expect to recognize over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.

Table of Contents

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of each stock option granted during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 was \$16 and \$9, respectively. Fair value was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Six Months Ended

	SIA MOHIIIS I	Jilucu
	November	November
	30, 2015	30, 2014
Risk-free interest rate	1.62%	1.57%
Expected volatility	28.65%	23.65%
Dividend yield	0.10%	0.13%
Expected life (years)	5	5

The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of a zero coupon U.S. Treasury security with a maturity equal to the expected life of the option from the date of the grant. Our assumption on expected volatility is based on our historical volatility. The dividend yield assumption is calculated using our average stock price over the preceding year and the annualized amount of our most current quarterly dividend per share. We based our assumptions on the expected lives of the options on our analysis of the historical exercise patterns of the options and our assumption on the future exercise pattern of options.

NOTE 10—EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing reported net income attributable to Global Payments by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Earnings available to common shareholders is the same as reported net income attributable to Global Payments for all periods presented.

Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to Global Payments by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period, including the effect of share-based awards that would have a dilutive effect on earnings per share. All stock options with an exercise price lower than the average market share price of our common stock for the period are assumed to have a dilutive effect on earnings per share. For the six months ended November 30, 2015, the diluted share base excluded 0.1 million shares related to stock options that would have an antidilutive effect on the computation of diluted earnings per share. There were no such antidilutive stock options for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 and the six months ended November 30, 2014.

The following table sets forth the computation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 (in thousands):

	Three Mon	ths Ended	Six Months Ended		
	November Novem		November	November	
	30, 2015	30, 2014	30, 2015	30, 2014	
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding	129,505	134,754	129,919	135,528	
Plus: Dilutive effect of stock options and other share-based awards	848	720	833	830	
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding	130,353	135,474	130,752	136,358	

Table of Contents

NOTE 11—ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The changes in the accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive loss were as follows for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 (in thousands):

	Foreign Currency Translation		Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Hedging Activities		Defined Benefit Pension Plans		Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	
Balance at August 31, 2014	\$(15,992)	\$ —		\$(3,359)	\$(19,351)
Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax	(80,930)	(2,445)	_		(83,375)
Balance at November 30, 2014	\$(96,922)	\$(2,445)	\$(3,359)	\$(102,726)
Balance at August 31, 2015	\$(206,124)	\$(2,794)	\$(3,809)	\$(212,727)
Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax	(31,568)	(939)	_		(32,507)
Balance at November 30, 2015	\$(237,692)	\$(3,733)	\$(3,809)	\$(245,234)

Other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest, which relates only to foreign currency translation, was \$6.3 million and \$6.9 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively.

The changes in the accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive loss were as follows for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 (in thousands):

	Foreign Currency Translation		Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Hedging Activities		Defined Benefit Pension Plans		Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	
Balance at May 31, 2014	\$1,583		\$—		\$(3,359)	\$(1,776)
Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax	(98,505)	(2,445)	_		(100,950)
Balance at November 30, 2014	\$(96,922)	\$(2,445)	\$(3,359)	\$(102,726)
Balance at May 31, 2015	\$(178,309)	\$(3,874)	\$(3,809)	\$(185,992)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income tax	(59,383)	141		_		(59,242)
Balance at November 30, 2015	\$(237,692)	\$(3,733)	\$(3,809)	\$(245,234)

Other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest, which relates only to foreign currency translation, was \$4.4 million and \$12.1 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively.

NOTE 12—SEGMENT INFORMATION

General Information

We are a leading worldwide provider of payment technology services delivering innovative solutions to our customers. Our partnerships, technologies and employee expertise enable us to provide a broad range of services that allow our customers to accept various payment types. We distribute our services across a variety of channels to merchants and partners in 29 countries throughout North America, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and an equity method investment in Brazil. Commencing with fiscal 2016, we began reporting based on realigned segments (North America, Europe and Asia-Pacific) due to international investment and a realigned management structure. As a result, we have presented prior year segment data in a manner that conforms to our current year presentation.

Table of Contents

Information About Profit and Assets

We evaluate performance and allocate resources based on the operating income of each segment. The operating income of each segment includes the revenues of the segment less those expenses that are directly related to those revenues. Operating overhead, shared costs and certain compensation costs are included in Corporate in the following table. Interest and other income, interest and other expense, the financial results of equity method investments and provision for income taxes are not allocated to the individual segments. We do not evaluate performance or allocate resources using segment asset data. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015 and our summary of significant accounting policies in "Note 1-Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

Information on segments and reconciliations to consolidated revenues and consolidated operating income are as follows for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):

	Three Months	Ended	Six Months Ended			
	November 30, November 30,		November 30,	November 30,		
	2015	2014	2015	2014		
Revenues:						
North America	\$511,335	\$488,776	\$1,042,192	\$992,782		
Europe	158,016	159,974	326,373	322,762		
Asia-Pacific	52,999	48,541	102,581	86,642		
Consolidated revenues	\$722,350	\$697,291	\$1,471,146	\$1,402,186		
Operating income (loss):						
North America	\$79,121	\$74,246	\$162,635	\$152,183		
Europe ⁽¹⁾	62,012	64,563	134,745	131,608		
Asia-Pacific	11,857	11,880	24,089	18,437		
Corporate	(29,825)	(26,705)	(60,532)	(53,846)		
Consolidated operating income	\$123,165	\$123,984	\$260,937	\$248,382		
Depreciation and amortization:						
North America	\$24,222	\$20,441	\$47,965	\$40,918		
Europe	9,921	10,072	20,265	21,108		
Asia-Pacific	3,358	2,494	6,415	3,948		
Corporate	1,248	1,598	2,861	3,198		
Consolidated depreciation and amortization	\$38,749	\$34,605	\$77,506	\$69,172		

⁽¹⁾ During the six months ended November 30, 2014, operating income for the Europe segment included a \$2.9 million gain on the sale of a component of our Russia business that leased automated teller machines to our sponsor bank in Russia. The gain is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of income for the six months ended November 30, 2014.

NOTE 13—SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On December 15, 2015, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with Heartland Payment Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Heartland"), pursuant to which we will acquire Heartland in a cash-and-stock transaction. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, as a result of the transaction, each outstanding share of Heartland's common stock will be converted into the right to receive \$53.28 in cash and 0.6687 shares of our common stock, which at December 15, 2015 represented a transaction value of \$4.3 billion, or \$100.00 per share of Heartland's common stock.

Concurrently with the signing of the Merger Agreement, we entered into a debt commitment letter for secured financing of up to \$4.78 billion, the proceeds of which will be used, among other things, to (i) amend, backstop, refinance or replace certain of

Table of Contents

our existing credit facilities, (ii) repay certain portions of Heartland's existing indebtedness and (iii) to finance, in part, the acquisition costs. We expect the merger to close in our fiscal 2016 fourth quarter, subject to regulatory approval and customary closing conditions, as well as approval by Heartland's shareholders.

Table of Contents

ITEM 2—MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 1 of Part 1 of this Quarterly Report and the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and consolidated financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements about our plans and expectations of what may happen in the future, including, without limitation, our proposed acquisition of Heartland Payment Systems, Inc. ("Heartland"). Forward-looking statements are based on a number of assumptions and estimates that are inherently subject to significant risks and uncertainties, and our actual results could differ materially from the results anticipated by our forward-looking statements. See "Forward-Looking Statements" below for additional information.

During the three months ended November 30, 2015, our board of directors declared a two-for-one stock split in the form of a stock dividend of one additional share of common stock for each outstanding share of common stock (the "Stock Split"). The stock dividend was paid on November 2, 2015. As a result, all share and per share information presented herein has been retrospectively adjusted for the Stock Split.

Executive Overview

We are a leading worldwide provider of payment technology services delivering innovative solutions to our customers. Our technologies, partnerships and employee expertise enable us to provide a broad range of services that allow our customers to accept various payment types. We distribute our payment services and digital commerce services across a variety of channels to merchants and partners in 29 countries throughout North America, Europe, the Asia-Pacific region and Brazil.

On December 15, 2015, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with Heartland pursuant to which we will acquire Heartland in a cash-and-stock transaction. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, as a result of the transaction, each outstanding share of Heartland's common stock will be converted into the right to receive \$53.28 in cash and 0.6687 shares of our common stock, which at December 15, 2015 represented a transaction value of \$4.3 billion, or \$100.00 per share of Heartland's common stock. Concurrently with the signing of the Merger Agreement, we entered into a debt commitment letter for secured financing of up to \$4.78 billion, the proceeds of which will be used, among other things, to (i) amend, backstop, refinance or replace certain of our existing credit facilities, (ii) repay certain portions of Heartland's existing indebtedness and (iii) to finance, in part, the acquisition costs. We expect the merger to close in our fiscal 2016 fourth quarter, subject to regulatory approval and customary closing conditions, as well as approval by Heartland's shareholders.

On November 2, 2015, Visa Inc. ("Visa") announced a proposed acquisition of Visa Europe Limited ("VE") that is currently expected to close during our fourth quarter of fiscal 2016. Through certain of our subsidiaries in Europe, we are a member and shareholder of VE. The preliminary estimate of the upfront consideration we will receive consists of cash of €30 million (\$31.7 million equivalent at November 30, 2015) and Visa preferred stock, which is convertible into Visa common shares with an approximate value of \$21.4 million as of the announcement date. We could also receive contingent earn-out consideration. The amount and composition of the total consideration are not final and could be amended. In addition, certain cash consideration could be refundable and the conversion factor of the preferred shares could be adjusted down as low as zero based on the outcome of potential litigation. See "Note 5-Other Assets" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Highlights related to our financial condition and results of operations for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015 are provided below:

Consolidated revenues increased by 3.6% to \$722.4 million in the three months ended November 30, 2015 compared to

the prior year period and consolidated revenues increased by 4.9% to \$1.5 billion in the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior year period despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$36.0 million and \$82.7 million, respectively;

Consolidated operating income was \$123.2 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 compared to \$124.0 million for the prior year period, and our operating margin was 17.1% compared to 17.8% for the prior year period. Consolidated operating income was \$260.9 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to \$248.4 million

Table of Contents

for the prior year period, and our operating margin was 17.7% in both periods. The contribution of the revenue growth in local currency was partially offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuation of \$13.3 million and \$31.8 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015, respectively;

Net income attributable to Global Payments increased by \$4.0 million, or 5.3%, to \$78.8 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 from \$74.8 million in the prior year period, and diluted earnings per share increased \$0.05, or 9.1%, to \$0.60 from \$0.55 in the prior year period. Net income attributable to Global Payments increased by \$15.3 million, or 10.2%, to \$165.4 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 from \$150.1 million in the prior year period, and diluted earnings per share increased \$0.17, or 15.5%, to \$1.27 from \$1.10 in the prior year period;

We completed a refinancing of our long-term debt that expanded our debt capacity to \$3 billion in the aggregate and lowered our borrowing rates; and

We effected the two-for-one Stock Split.

Acquisitions

FIS Gaming Business

On September 30, 2014, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Certegy Check Services, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. ("FIS"), to acquire substantially all of the assets of its gaming business related to licensed gaming operators (the "FIS Gaming Business"). On June 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition, which included approximately 260 gaming client locations, for \$237.5 million, funded from borrowings on our revolving credit facility and cash on hand.

Venture with Bank of the Philippine Islands

We provide merchant acquiring services in the Philippines through our subsidiary Global Payments Asia-Pacific Philippines Incorporated ("GP Philippines"). On August 3, 2015, we made a cash payment of \$3.6 million and contributed a 49% ownership interest in GP Philippines to Bank of the Philippines ("BPI") in return for its merchant acquiring business, which is now part of GP Philippines, in which we have retained a controlling 51% interest.

Central and Eastern European Venture

On July 27, 2015, we announced an agreement with CaixaBank, S.A. ("CaixaBank") and Erste Group Bank AG ("Erste Group") to form a venture to provide merchant acquiring and payment services in three Central and Eastern European markets: the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Romania. As part of the agreement, Global Payments and CaixaBank will form an entity, in which Global Payments will have a 51% controlling interest. This newly formed entity, to be included in our Europe segment, will pay €30 million (\$32 million equivalent as of November 30, 2015) in cash to acquire a 51% controlling ownership in the venture with Erste Group, which will contribute its existing merchant acquiring businesses in each of the three countries to the venture and hold a 49% interest. The transaction is expected to close in the second half of fiscal 2016, subject to receipt of regulatory approvals and satisfaction of customary closing conditions.

See "Note 3—Business and Intangible Asset Acquisitions and Joint Ventures" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion of these acquisitions.

Results of Operations

Commencing with fiscal 2016, we began reporting based on realigned segments (North America, Europe and Asia-Pacific) due to international investment and a realigned management structure. As a result, we have presented prior year segment data in a manner that conforms to our current year presentation.

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth key selected financial data for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, this data as a percentage of total revenues, and the changes between the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 in dollars and as a percentage of the prior year amount.

	Three Months Ended November 30 2015		% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Three Montl Ended November 3 2014		% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Change		% Cha	ange
	(dollar amoun	its	in thous	sand	s)							
Revenues:					,							
North America	\$511,335		70.8	%	\$488,776		70.1	%	\$22,559		4.6	%
Europe	158,016		21.9	%	159,974		22.9	%	(1,958)	(1.2)%
Asia-Pacific	52,999		7.3	%	48,541		7.0	%	4,458		9.2	%
Total revenues	\$722,350		100.0	%	\$697,291		100.0	%	\$25,059		3.6	%
Consolidated operating expenses:												
Cost of service	\$270,565		37.5	%	\$257,796		37.0	%	\$12,769		5.0	%
Selling, general and administrative	328,620		45.5	%	315,511		45.2	%	13,109		4.2	%
Operating expenses	\$599,185		82.9	%	\$573,307		82.2	%	\$25,878		4.5	%
Operating income (loss):												
North America	\$79,121				\$74,246				\$4,875		6.6	%
Europe	62,012				64,563				(2,551)	(4.0))%
Asia-Pacific	11,857				11,880				(23)	(0.2))%
Corporate	(29,825)			(26,705)			(3,120)	11.7	%
Operating income	\$123,165		17.1	%	\$123,984		17.8	%	\$(819)	(0.7)%
Operating margin:												
North America	15.5	%			15.2	%			0.3	%		
Europe	39.2	%			40.4	%			(1.2)%		
Asia-Pacific	22.4	%			24.5	%			(2.1)%		
(1)Percentage amounts may not su	ım to the total d	lue	to rour	din	σ							

⁽¹⁾Percentage amounts may not sum to the total due to rounding.

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth key selected financial data for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, this data as a percentage of total revenues, and the changes between the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014 in dollars and as a percentage of the prior year amount.

	Six Months Ended November 3 2015	30,	% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Six Months Ended November 3 2014	0,	% of Revenu	ıe ⁽¹⁾	Change		% Cha	ınge
	(dollar amo	unts	in thou	sanc	ls)							
Revenues:					•							
North America	\$1,042,192		70.8	%	\$992,782		70.8	%	\$49,410		5.0	%
Europe	326,373		22.2	%	322,762		23.0	%	3,611		1.1	%
Asia-Pacific	102,581		7.0	%	86,642		6.2	%	15,939		18.4	%
Total revenues	\$1,471,146		100.0	%	\$1,402,186		100.0	%			4.9	%
Consolidated operating expenses:												
Cost of service	\$543,231		36.9	%	\$517,635		36.9	%	\$25,596		4.9	%
Selling, general and administrative	666,978		45.3	%	636,169		45.4	%	30,809		4.8	%
Operating expenses	\$1,210,209		82.3	%	\$1,153,804		82.3	%	\$56,405		4.9	%
Operating income (loss):												
North America	\$162,635				\$152,183				\$10,452		6.9	%
Europe	134,745				131,608				3,137		2.4	%
Asia-Pacific	24,089				18,437				5,652		30.7	%
Corporate	(60,532)			(53,846)			(6,686)	12.4	%
Operating income	\$260,937		17.7	%	\$248,382		17.7	%	\$12,555		5.1	%
Operating margin:												
North America	15.6	%			15.3	%			0.3	%		
Europe	41.3	%			40.8	%			0.5	%		
Asia-Pacific	23.5	%			21.3	%			2.2	%		
(1)Percentage amounts may not sum	to the total d	116 1	to round	inσ								

⁽¹⁾Percentage amounts may not sum to the total due to rounding.

Revenues

For the three months ended November 30, 2015, revenues increased by 3.6% compared to the prior year to \$722.4 million despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$36.0 million. For the six months ended November 30, 2015, revenues increased by 4.9% compared to the prior year to \$1.5 billion, despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$82.7 million.

North America Segment. For the three months ended November 30, 2015, revenues from our North America segment increased by \$22.6 million, or 4.6%, compared to the prior year to \$511.3 million. The increase was primarily due to growth in our U.S. direct distribution channels of \$20.9 million, an increase in revenue from wholesale lines of business of \$7.3 million and revenue growth in Canada in local currency. The growth in our U.S. direct distribution channels included additional revenue from the acquisition of the FIS Gaming Business and organic revenue growth from integrated solutions as well as revenues from new offerings, such as OptBlue for American Express Card® acceptance. For the three months ended November 30, 2015, Canada revenue decreased by \$7.8 million from the prior year due to the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$13.6 million.

For the six months ended November 30, 2015, revenues from our North America segment increased by \$49.4 million, or 5.0%, compared to the prior year to \$1.0 billion. The increase was primarily due to growth in our U.S. direct distribution channels of \$50.9 million, an increase in revenue from wholesale lines of business of \$16.3 million and revenue growth in Canada in local currency. The growth in our U.S. direct distribution channels included additional revenue from the acquisition of the FIS Gaming Business

Table of Contents

and organic revenue growth from integrated solutions as well as revenues from new offerings, such as OptBlue for American Express Card® acceptance. For the six months ended November 30, 2015, Canada revenue decreased by \$19.1 million from the prior year due to the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations in Canada of \$27.7 million.

Europe Segment. For the three months ended November 30, 2015, Europe revenues decreased \$2.0 million, or 1.2%, compared to the prior year to \$158.0 million. The decrease reflects growth in local currencies, generally due to an increase in the number of card transactions and volume growth in the United Kingdom and Spain, offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$17.8 million.

For the six months ended November 30, 2015, Europe revenues increased by \$3.6 million, or 1.1%, compared to the prior year to \$326.4 million. The increase reflects growth in local currencies in the United Kingdom and Spain, partially offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$46.5 million.

Asia-Pacific Segment. For the three months ended November 30, 2015, Asia-Pacific revenues increased by \$4.5 million, or 9.2%, compared to the prior year to \$53.0 million. The increase was primarily due to the acquisition of Ezidebit, partially offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$4.6 million.

For the six months ended November 30, 2015, Asia-Pacific revenue increased \$15.9 million, or 18.4%, compared to the prior year to \$102.6 million. The increase was primarily due to the acquisition of Ezidebit, partially offset by the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$8.5 million.

Operating Expenses

Cost of Service. Cost of service increased by 5.0% to \$270.6 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and by 4.9% to \$543.2 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior year periods. As a percentage of revenue, cost of service increased to 37.5% for the three months ended November 30, 2015 from 37.0% for the three months ended November 30, 2014 and remained unchanged at 36.9% for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior-year period. The increase in cost of service was driven primarily by an increase in the variable costs associated with our revenue growth.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 4.2% to \$328.6 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and by 4.8% to \$667.0 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior-year periods. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses increased slightly to 45.5% for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and decreased to 45.3% for the six months ended November 30, 2015. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to additional costs to support the growth of our business.

Operating Income and Operating Margin for Segments

North America Segment. Operating income in our North America segment increased by 6.6% to \$79.1 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and by 6.9% to \$162.6 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior-year periods despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$7.1 million and \$14.2 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015, respectively. The increase in operating income and operating margin was primarily due to revenue growth in our U.S. direct distribution channels.

Europe Segment. Operating income in our Europe segment decreased by 4.0% to \$62.0 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and operating margin decreased by 1.2% compared to the prior year due to the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$5.1 million.

Operating income in our Europe segment increased by 2.4% to \$134.7 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior year due to the effects of the revenue growth, in spite of the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$15.5 million.

Table of Contents

Asia-Pacific Segment. Operating income in our Asia-Pacific segment decreased by 0.2% to \$11.9 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and our operating margin in the region decreased by 2.1% compared to the prior year due to the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$1.0 million.

Operating income in our Asia-Pacific segment increased by 30.7% to \$24.1 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to the prior year despite the unfavorable effect of currency fluctuations of \$2.1 million. The operating margin increased by 2.2% to 23.5% for the six months ended November 30, 2015. The increase in operating income and improvement in operating margin for the Asia-Pacific segment during the six months ended November 30, 2015 were largely due to our acquisition of Ezidebit, which has a higher operating margin than our legacy business in the region.

Corporate. Corporate expenses increased by 11.7% to \$29.8 million for the three months ended November 30, 2015 compared to \$26.7 million for the prior-year period, and by 12.4% to \$60.5 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 compared to \$53.8 million. The increases in the three and six-month periods were primarily due to an increase in share-based compensation expense of \$1.9 million and \$4.3 million, respectively.

Other Income/Expense, Net

Interest and other income was relatively unchanged for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015. Interest and other expense increased \$3.8 million and \$6.0 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2015 due to an increase in interest expense resulting from an increase in average balances outstanding under our debt facilities.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rates were 24.7% and 25.8% for the three months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively, and 25.4% and 26.1% for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and November 30, 2014, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

A significant portion of our liquidity comes from operating cash flows. Cash flow from operations is used to make planned capital investments in our business, to pursue acquisitions that meet our corporate objectives, to pay dividends, and to pay down debt and repurchase shares of our common stock at the discretion of our board of directors. Accumulated cash balances are invested in high-quality, marketable short-term instruments.

Our capital plan objectives are to support the Company's operational needs and strategic plan for long-term growth while maintaining a low cost of capital. Lines of credit are used in certain of our markets to fund settlement. Other bank financing, such as our corporate credit facility and our term loan, are used for general corporate purposes and to fund acquisitions. We regularly evaluate our liquidity and capital position relative to cash requirements, and we may elect to raise additional funds in the future, either through the issuance of debt, equity or otherwise.

On December 15, 2015, we entered into a Merger Agreement to acquire Heartland in a cash-and-stock transaction. The proposed merger is described in the "Executive Overview" section. Concurrently with the signing of the Merger Agreement, we entered into a debt commitment letter for secured financing of up to \$4.78 billion, the proceeds of which will be used, among other things, to (i) amend, backstop, refinance or replace certain of our existing credit facilities, (ii) repay certain portions of Heartland's existing indebtedness and (iii) to finance, in part, the acquisition costs. The anticipated borrowing arrangement would significantly increase our outstanding debt and interest expense.

At November 30, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling \$988.5 million. Of this amount, we consider \$216.1 million to be available cash. Available cash excludes settlement related and merchant reserve cash balances. Settlement related cash balances represent funds that we hold when the incoming amount from the card networks precedes the funding obligation to the merchant. Settlement related cash balances are not restricted; however, these funds are generally paid out in satisfaction of settlement processing obligations the following day. Merchant reserve cash balances represent funds collected from our merchants that serve as collateral to minimize contingent liabilities associated with any losses that may occur under the merchant agreement ("Merchant Reserves"). At November 30, 2015, our cash and cash equivalents included \$159.7 million related to Merchant Reserves. While this cash is not

Table of Contents

restricted in its use, we believe that designating this cash to collateralize Merchant Reserves strengthens our fiduciary standing with our member sponsors and is in accordance with the guidelines set by the card networks.

Our available cash balance includes \$170.1 million of cash held by foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are considered permanently reinvested for U.S. tax purposes. These cash balances reflect our capital investments in these subsidiaries and the accumulation of cash flows generated by their operations, net of cash flows used to service debt locally and fund acquisitions outside of the United States. We believe that we are able to maintain a sufficient level of liquidity for our domestic operations and commitments without repatriation of the earnings of these foreign subsidiaries. If we were to repatriate some or all of the cash held by such foreign subsidiaries, we do not believe that the associated income tax liabilities would have a significant effect on our liquidity.

Operating activities provided net cash of \$454.1 million and \$226.9 million for the six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The increase in cash flow from operating activities was primarily due to an increase in cash from earnings and, during the six months ended November 30, 2015, a decrease in net settlement processing assets of \$222.2 million. Fluctuations in settlement processing assets and obligations are largely due to timing of month-end.

Net cash used in investing activities was \$278.2 million during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and \$246.2 million in the prior year. During the six months ended November 30, 2015, we invested net cash of \$241.1 million to acquire the FIS Gaming Business and the merchant acquiring business of BPI. We made capital expenditures of \$36.2 million and \$33.3 million during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. During fiscal 2016, we expect capital expenditures to approximate \$105 million.

During the six months ended November 30, 2015, we also entered into an agreement to acquire merchant processing businesses in Central and Eastern Europe. We expect the agreement to close in the second half of fiscal 2016, subject to receipt of regulatory approvals and satisfaction of customary closing conditions. See "Note 3 - Business and Intangible Asset Acquisitions and Joint Ventures" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion, including expected funding requirements.

Net cash provided by financing activities was \$185.7 million and \$105.0 million during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. On July 31, 2015, we refinanced our term loan and revolving credit facility as further discussed below under "Long-term Debt and Credit Facilities - Contractual Obligations." We used proceeds from the refinancing of approximately \$2.0 billion to repay the outstanding balances on our previously existing term loan and revolving credit facility together with accrued interest and fees on each. During the six months ended November 30, 2015, net borrowings under long-term debt, including the refinancing, were \$178.0 million compared to \$207.3 million in the prior year. A portion of our borrowings during the six months ended November 30, 2015 were made to fund the acquisition of the FIS Gaming Business.

In addition, we used cash of \$71.7 million and \$179.7 million during the six months ended November 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, to repurchase shares of our common stock.

We believe that our current level of cash and borrowing capacity under our debt facilities described below, together with future cash flows from operations and the committed financing for the Heartland acquisition, will be sufficient to meet the needs of our existing operations and planned requirements for the foreseeable future.

Long-Term Debt and Credit Facilities

As a result of a debt refinancing we completed on July 31, 2015, we have long-term debt comprised of a five-year senior unsecured \$1.75 billion term loan (the "Term Loan") and a senior unsecured \$1.25 billion revolving credit facility

(the "Revolving Credit Facility" and, together with the Term Loan Agreement, the "Agreements"). The available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility may be increased, at our option, by up to an additional \$500 million, subject to our receipt of increased or new commitments from lenders and the satisfaction of certain conditions.

The Term Loan must be repaid in equal quarterly installments of \$43.8 million commencing in November 2017 and ending in May 2020, with the remaining principal balance due upon maturity in July 2020; provided, however, that the Term Loan may be prepaid without penalty. The Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility bear an interest rate, at our election, of either London

Table of Contents

Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or a base rate, in each case plus a leverage-based margin. As of November 30, 2015, the interest rate on the Term Loan was 1.73%.

As of November 30, 2015, the outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility was \$171 million, and the interest rate was 1.66%. The Revolving Credit Facility allows us to issue standby letters of credit of up to \$100 million in the aggregate. Outstanding letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility reduce the amount of borrowings available to us. Borrowings available to us under the Revolving Credit Facility are further limited by the covenants described below under "Compliance with Covenants." At November 30, 2015, we had standby letters of credit of \$9.3 million. The total available incremental borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility at November 30, 2015 was \$424.7 million. We are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. The Agreements expire in July 2020.

The loan agreements contain customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, including, among others, financial covenants based on our leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios. See "Compliance with Covenants" below. Each of the Agreements includes customary events of default, the occurrence of which, following any applicable cure period, would permit the lenders to, among other things, declare the principal, accrued interest and other obligations to be immediately due and payable.

Lines of Credit

We have lines of credit with banks in the United States and Canada as well as several countries in Europe and in the Asia-Pacific region in which we do business. The lines of credit, which are restricted for use in funding settlement, generally have variable interest rates and are subject to annual review. The credit facilities are generally denominated in local currency but may, in some cases, facilitate borrowings in multiple currencies. For certain of our lines of credit, the line of credit balance is reduced by the amount of cash we have on deposit in specific accounts with the lender when determining the available credit. Accordingly, the amount of the outstanding line of credit may exceed the stated credit limit, while the net position is less than the credit limit. As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, a total of \$115.6 million and \$193.2 million, respectively, of cash on deposit was used to determine the available credit.

As of November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, respectively, we had \$685.2 million and \$592.6 million outstanding under these lines of credit with additional capacity as of November 30, 2015 of \$574.7 million to fund settlement. The weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings was 1.70% and 1.50% at November 30, 2015 and May 31, 2015, respectively. We are required to pay commitment fees on unused portions of the lines of credit.

Compliance with Covenants

The Agreements include financial covenants requiring (i) a leverage ratio no greater than 3.50 to 1.00, or up to 3.75 to 1.00 if we were to complete an acquisition, subject to certain conditions, and (ii) a fixed charge coverage ratio no less than 2.50 to 1.00. The Agreements and lines of credit also include various other covenants that are customary in such borrowings. We complied with all applicable covenants as of and for the six months ended November 30, 2015.

See "Note 6—Long-Term Debt and Credit Facilities" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our borrowing arrangements.

Table of Contents

Commitments and Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of November 30, 2015 (in thousands):

	Payments Due by Future Period					
	Total	Less than 1 Year	1-3 Years	3-5 Years	5+ Years	
Long-term debt	\$1,920,500	\$ —	\$218,750	\$1,701,750	\$ —	
Interest on long-term debt ⁽¹⁾	151,743	40,570	67,117	44,056		
Lines of credit	685,178	685,178		_	_	
Operating lease obligations ⁽²⁾	62,054	13,490	23,066	16,818	8,680	
Purchase obligations ⁽³⁾	268,105	88,452	93,730	32,036	53,887	
-	\$3,087,580	\$827,690	\$402,663	\$1,794,660	\$62,567	

⁽¹⁾ Interest on long-term debt is based on rates effective and amounts borrowed as of November 30, 2015. The estimated effect of interest rate swaps is included in interest on long-term debt. Since the contractual rates for our long-term debt and settlements on our interest rate swaps are variable, actual cash payments may differ from the estimates provided. The table above does not include any committed funding associated with our proposed acquisition of Heartland.

The table above excludes other obligations that we may have, such as employee benefit obligations and other noncurrent liabilities reflected in our consolidated balance sheet, because the timing of the related payments is not determinable or because there is no contractual obligation associated with the underlying obligations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any transactions with unconsolidated entities whereby we have financial guarantees, subordinated retained interest, derivative instruments, or other contingent arrangements that expose us to material continuing risks, contingent liabilities, or other obligations under a variable interest in an unconsolidated entity that provides us with financing, liquidity, market, or credit risk support other than the guarantee services described in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Policies" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which often require the judgment of management in the selection and application of certain accounting principles and methods. We discuss our critical accounting policies in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015. During the three and six months ended November 30, 2015, we did not adopt any new critical accounting policies, did not change any critical accounting policies and did not change the application of any critical accounting policies from the year ended May 31, 2015.

⁽²⁾ Includes future minimum lease payments for noncancelable operating leases at November 30, 2015.

⁽³⁾ Includes estimate of future payments for contractual obligations related to service arrangements with vendors for fixed or minimum amounts.

Effect of New Accounting Pronouncements and Recently Issued Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

From time-to-time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other standards setting bodies that may affect our current and/or future financial statements. See "Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of

Table of Contents

Significant Accounting Policies" in the notes to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements for new accounting guidance.

Forward-Looking Statements

Investors are cautioned that some of the statements we use in this report contain forward-looking statements and are made pursuant to the "safe-harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties and depend upon future events or conditions. Actual events or results might differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in these forward-looking statements. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee you that our plans and expectations will be achieved. Such statements may include, but are not limited to, statements about the benefits of the proposed acquisition by us of Heartland, including future financial and operating results, the combined company's plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and other statements that are not historical facts. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made and should not be relied upon as representing our plans and expectations as of any subsequent date. We undertake no obligation to revise any of these statements to reflect future circumstances or the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Important factors, among others, associated with the proposed acquisition of Heartland that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those anticipated by our forward-looking statements or historical performance include the ability to meet closing conditions at all or on the expected terms and schedule, including without limitation the approval of Heartland's stockholders and other regulatory approvals required for the merger; the possibility of a delay in closing the acquisition or failure to consummate the transaction as a result of litigation or otherwise; business disruption during the pendency of the acquisition or thereafter making it more difficult to maintain business and operational relationships, including the possibility that our announcement of the acquisition could disrupt our relationships with our sponsors, merchants, employees or other partners; difficulties and delays in integrating the Heartland business or fully realizing cost savings and other benefits of the acquisition at all or within the expected time period; the ability to accurately predict future market conditions; and changes in laws, regulations or network rules or interpretations thereof impacting us or Heartland.

Additional important factors, among others, not directly associated with the proposed acquisition of Heartland but that may otherwise cause actual events or results to differ materially from those anticipated by our forward-looking statements or historical performance include our potential failure to safeguard our data; increased competition from nontraditional competitors; our ability to update our products and services in a timely manner; potential systems interruptions or failures; software defects or undetected errors; our ability to maintain Visa and MasterCard registration and financial institution sponsorship; our reliance on financial institutions to provide clearing services in connection with our settlement activities; our potential failure to comply with card network requirements; increased merchant, referral partner or ISO attrition; our ability to increase our share of existing markets and expand into new markets; unanticipated increases in chargeback liability; increases in credit card network fees; changes in laws, regulations or network rules or interpretations thereof; foreign currency exchange and interest rate risks; political, economic and regulatory changes in the foreign countries in which we operate; future performance, integration and conversion of acquired operations; loss of key personnel; and other risk factors presented in Item 1A-Risk Factors of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2015 or in Heartland's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Table of Contents

ITEM 3—QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates on our long-term debt and cash investments. Our long-term debt bears interest, at our election, at either LIBOR or a base rate, in each case plus a leverage-based margin. We invest our excess cash in securities that we believe are highly liquid and marketable in the short term and earn a floating rate of interest. These investments are not held for trading or other speculative purposes. Under our current policies, we may selectively use derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps or forward rate agreements, to manage all or a portion of our exposure to interest rate changes. We have interest rate swaps that reduce a portion of our exposure to market interest rate risk on our LIBOR-based debt as discussed in Note 6 to the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements. Using the November 30, 2015 balances outstanding under variable-rate debt arrangements, with consideration given to the aforementioned interest rate swaps, a hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in applicable interest rates as of November 30, 2015 would increase our annual interest expense by approximately \$7.7 million.

On December 15, 2015, we entered into a Merger Agreement with Heartland pursuant to which we will acquire Heartland in a cash-and-stock transaction. Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, as a result of the transaction, each outstanding share of Heartland's common stock will be converted into the right to receive \$53.28 in cash and 0.6687 shares of our common stock, which at December 15, 2015 represented a transaction value of \$4.3 billion, or \$100.00 per share of Heartland's common stock. Concurrently with the signing of the Merger Agreement, we entered into a debt commitment letter for secured financing of up to \$4.78 billion, the proceeds of which will be used, among other things, to (i) amend, backstop, refinance or replace certain of our existing credit facilities, (ii) repay certain portions of Heartland's existing indebtedness and (iii) to finance, in part, the acquisition costs. The anticipated borrowing arrangement will significantly increase our outstanding debt and interest expense.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

A substantial amount of our operations are conducted in foreign currencies. Consequently, a portion of our revenues and expenses may be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We are also affected by fluctuations in exchange rates on assets and liabilities related to our foreign operations. We have not historically hedged our translation risk on foreign currency exposure, but we may do so in the future.

ITEM 4—CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of November 30, 2015, management carried out, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of November 30, 2015, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in applicable rules and forms and are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in those reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended November 30, 2015 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1—LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

Table of Contents

ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS

On December 15, 2015, we and certain of our wholly owned subsidiaries entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with Heartland Payment Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Heartland"), pursuant to which we agreed to acquire Heartland. There are a number of risks and uncertainties relating to the Heartland acquisition. Because of these risks, we have supplemented the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2015, to add the following risk factors:

We may not be able to successfully or timely complete the pending acquisition of Heartland, which could affect our future business and operations.

Risks and uncertainties related to the completion of our pending acquisition of Heartland include, among others, the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the Merger Agreement. Specifically, completion of the transaction is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, including adoption of the Merger Agreement by the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Heartland's common stock, the absence of any law or order of any governmental entity which prohibits the completion of the acquisition, the expiration or termination of the waiting period applicable to the completion of the acquisition under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, the effectiveness under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 to be filed by us in connection with the completion of the transaction and, subject to certain materiality exceptions, the accuracy of the representations and warranties made by the parties and compliance by the parties with their respective obligations under the Merger Agreement. If any condition to the closing of the acquisition is not satisfied or, if permissible, waived, the acquisition may not be completed. In addition, satisfying the conditions to the closing of the acquisition may take longer than we expect. There can be no assurance that any of the conditions to closing will be satisfied or waived or that other events will not intervene to delay or result in the failure to complete the acquisition.

Failure to complete the acquisition could negatively affect our future business and financial results. We could also be subject to litigation related to any failure to complete the acquisition.

If we complete our pending acquisition of Heartland, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of the transaction or we may be subject to additional costs, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

The success of the pending acquisition of Heartland will depend, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated synergies. The achievement of the anticipated benefits of the transaction is subject to a number of uncertainties. If the Heartland transaction is completed, we can provide no assurance that (i) the anticipated benefits of the transaction, including synergies, will be fully realized in the time frame anticipated or at all; (ii) the costs related to the integration of Heartland's business and operations into ours and the financing of the transaction will not be greater than expected; (iii) litigation relating to the transaction will not have been filed; and (iv) the transaction will not cause disruption to Heartland's business and operations and relationships with financial institution sponsors, customers, merchants, employees and other partners. Further, our management's efforts to complete the Heartland acquisition and related integration could divert its attention away from the day-to-day operations of our business. If one or more of these risks are realized, it could negatively affect our operating results and cash flows.

We will take on additional indebtedness to finance the acquisition, which could adversely affect us, including by decreasing our business flexibility.

In connection with the consummation of the proposed acquisition of Heartland, we intend to increase our indebtedness. We have secured financing commitments of up to \$4.78 billion to repay our existing indebtedness, fund the cash consideration for the acquisition, repay certain of Heartland's indebtedness and pay related fees and expenses,

subject in each case to the conditions set forth in the debt commitment letters. These conditions may not be satisfied, and the commitments either may not be funded when required or may be funded at an increased cost to us. Our increased level of debt and the covenants to which we will agree in connection with the financing could, among other things, (i) require us to dedicate a larger portion of our cash flow from operations to servicing and repayment of the debt, (ii) reduce funds available for strategic initiatives and opportunities, working capital and other general corporate needs and (iii) limit our ability to incur certain kinds or amounts of additional indebtedness, which could restrict our flexibility to react to changes in our business our industry and economic conditions.

Table of Contents

Issuance of shares of our common stock in connection with the proposed acquisition of Heartland will reduce our existing shareholders' ownership and voting interest in our company and may adversely affect our stock price.

As partial consideration for the proposed acquisition of Heartland, we expect to issue approximately 26 million shares of common stock to Heartland's stockholders. The issuance of these new shares of our common stock will reduce our existing shareholders' ownership and voting interest in our company and, as a result, our existing shareholders will be able to exert less influence over our company. The issuance of these new shares of our common stock may also result in fluctuations in the market price of our common stock, including a stock price decrease.

ITEM 2—UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

The shares repurchased in the second quarter of fiscal 2016, the approximate average price paid per share, including commissions, and the approximate dollar value remaining for share purchases (in each case as adjusted for the Stock Split) are as follows:

				Maximum
			Total Number of	Number (or
			Shares Purchased	Approximate
	Total Number of	Approximate	as Part of	Dollar Value) of
Plan category	Shares Purchased	Average Price	Publicly	Shares that May
	(1)	Paid per Share	Announced	Yet Be Purchased
			Plans or Programs	Under
			(2)	the Plans or
				Programs (3)
September 2015	391,608	\$55.97	391,608	
October 2015	88,892	\$62.32	88,892	
November 2015	145,073	\$68.87	145,073	
Total	625,573		625,573	\$327,500,000

Our board of directors has authorized us to repurchase shares of our common stock through any combination of

(2) The average price paid for share for the quarter was \$59.87.

The approximate dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased under our share repurchase program, as of November 30, 2015, was comprised of (i) \$27.5 million remaining available under the board's \$102.3 million

(3) authorization announced on January 8, 2015 and (ii) \$300.0 million remaining available under the board's authorization announced on July 28, 2015. The authorizations by the board of directors do not expire, but could be revoked at any time. In addition, we are not required by any of the board's authorizations or otherwise to complete any repurchases by any specific time or at all.

Movimum

⁽¹⁾ Rule 10b5-1 open-market repurchase plans, accelerated share repurchase plans, discretionary open-market purchases or privately negotiated transactions. All shares shown in the table were repurchased pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 open-market repurchase plans.

Table of Contents

ITEM 6—EXHIBITS

List of Exhibits

- Second Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed October 7, 2015.
- 10.2*+ Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Michelle V. Bonam-Ball, dated as of November 2, 2015.
- Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 The following financial information from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended November 30, 2015, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language) and filed electronically herewith: (i) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Income; (ii) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements
- of Comprehensive Income (Loss); (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets; (iv) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; (v) the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity; and (vi) the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements.

^{*} Filed herewith.

⁺ Represents a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Global Payments Inc. (Registrant)

Date: January 11, 2016 /s/ Cameron M. Bready Cameron M. Bready

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)